## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FILET
SID J. WHITE
NOV 15 19941

SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

Appellant

aL

v.

CASE NO.: 25,545

ADMINISTRATION COMMISSION, DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS, DON W. DAVIS, in his capacity as Hearing Officer for the Division of Administrative Hearings, and DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS,

Appellees.

## SANTA ROSA COUNTY'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KENNETH G. OERTEL Fla. Bar ID #128808

M. CHRISTOPHER BRYANT Fla. Bar ID #434450

OERTEL, HOFFMAN, FERNANDEZ & COLE, P.A. Post Office Box 6507 Tallahassee, Florida 32314-6507 (904) 877-0099

and

THOMAS V. DANNHEISSER Fla. Bar ID #323942

County Attorney
Santa Rosa County
801 Caroline Street, S.E.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Santa Rosa County (the "County") seeks review of the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Santa Rosa County v.</u>

Administration Commission, et al., \_\_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_\_, 19 F.L.W.

D1965 (Fla. 1st DCA, Opinion filed September 14, 1994). The opinion affirmed entry of a summary judgment in a Leon County Circuit Court suit for declaratory relief filed by the County. The District Court held that the County lacked standing to bring the declaratory judgment action.

The County's declaratory judgment action challenged the constitutionality of certain comprehensive planning statutes (Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes) and rules (found in Rule 9J-5, Fla. Admin. Code) applied by the Department of Community Affairs ("the Department"). Pursuant to the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act (the "Act"), Sections 163.3161, et seq., Florida Statutes, local governments—municipalities and counties—are required to prepare comprehensive plans ("comp plans") conforming with the requirements of the Act and submit them to the Department for review.

The following chronology of events concerning the County's planning efforts is described in the County's Complaint for Declaratory Judgment [at R. 165-66]. As required by the Act, the County submitted a proposed comp plan to the Department for written

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  Citations to the record are based on the same record that was before the First DCA, with the same record numbering system used there.

comment on April 2, 1990. On July 10, 1990, the Department provided the County with its objections, recommendations and comments regarding the County's comp plan. Subsequently, the County adopted its comp plan by ordinance on September 13, 1990. On November 21, 1990, the Department issued its "Statement of Intent to Find the Comprehensive Plan Not in Compliance" with Department Rule 9J-5, and Chapter 163, Florida Statutes. On December 5, 1990, the Department filed its Petition with the Division of Administrative Hearings for a determination that the County's comp plan did not comply with Chapter 163, Florida Statutes. Among the inconsistencies, the Department alleged:

- a. The County's comp plan failed to discourage urban sprawl as required by Rules 9J-5.006(3)(b)7 and 9J-5.011(2)(b)3, and was inconsistent with other requirements of Rule 9J-5.006(3)(b);
- b. The Coastal Element of the County's comp plan was inconsistent with Section 163.3177(6)(g), Fla, Stat., and Rule 9J-5.012; and
- c. The County's comp plan was inconsistent with several provisions of the West Florida Regional Policy Plan, in violation of Sections 163.3177(10)(a) and 163.3184(1)(b), Fla. Stat. [R. 166]

On November 27, 1991, the County filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief in Santa Rosa County Circuit Court, seeking in part to have a declaration as to the constitutionality of the statutes and rules being applied to the

County in the administrative comp plan case. [R. 161-184] The lawsuit was filed in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit in and for Santa Rosa County, Florida, and was later moved to circuit court in Leon County. [R. 1-7]

The County's Complaint sought declaratory judgment on the following issues:

- a. The validity and constitutionality of several provisions of Rule 9J-5, which require that local government comp plans contain provisions which discourage the proliferation of "urban sprawl" and achieve other land use goals;
- b. The constitutionality of provisions of Section 163.3184, Fla. Stat, which authorize the Administration Commission to withhold legislative appropriations to the County, to direct state agencies not to undertake certain infrastructure activities in the County, and allow DNR and the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund to withhold permit and consent of use approvals if it is determined that the comp plan is inconsistent with the Coastal Element requirements of Rule 9J-5;
- c. The validity and constitutionality of provisions of Rule 9J-5 and Sections 163.3184 and 163.3177, Fla. Stat., that require that comp plans be consistent with Regional Policy Plans; and
- d. The validity of parts of Rule 9J-5.012, which set out requirements for what a comp plan must contain in its Coastal Element. [R. 166-67]

After denial of various motions to dismiss the Complaint, the case was reassigned from Circuit Judge George Reynolds to Circuit Judge Ralph Smith. The Department then filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, alleging among other things that the Department and Santa Rosa County had settled the administrative litigation concerning compliance of the comp plan, and that the civil litigation in this case was thus moot, as there was no present need for a declaratory judgment. The motion was granted on the grounds of mootness due to the settlement. [R. 497] The County's Motion for Rehearing on the entry of summary judgment was subsequently denied [R. 567-570], and the district court appeal followed.

The rationale of the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment was that, as long as Santa Rosa County and the Department of Community Affairs had settled their administrative dispute regarding whether the County's comp plan was in compliance with the Act, the County had no entitlement to an adjudication of the validity of the law which dictated what must be contained in such plans. [R. 499]

The Department's Motion for Summary Judgment stated in its first section a list of "Undisputed Material Facts." [R. 345-54] The facts were really no more than a short procedural history of growth management planning. Nowhere in the list was any reference to any settlement agreement between the County and the Department relating to the administrative comp plan case. However, in section II.B., paragraph 35 of the Motion, the Department argues:

Santa Rosa County has no current, concrete dispute regarding enforcement of Chapter 163, Part II, or any rules promulgated under the Act. In fact, it has already settled with the Department and will avoid sanctions altogether if it follows through on the terms and conditions of its settlement agreement . . .

[R. 357] (emphasis added) Although the statement highlighted that the existence of a settlement is the total foundation for the Summary Judgment, the Department acknowledged that even if a settlement had been reached, that is no guarantee that the case is over or that County will avoid sanctions.

The Summary Judgment entered below assumed that the parties had reached a final settlement and the case is not subject to continued litigation:

On June 24, 1992, a settlement agreement was entered into between the County and DCA, which resolved the disputes between the parties arising out of or related to the comprehensive plan adopted by the County.

[R. 499] As was admitted by the Department through an affidavit of Department Secretary Linda Loomis Shelley, and as argued in the Motion for Summary Judgment, the settlement agreement is no guarantee of finality and by itself does not resolve the disputes between the parties. Rather, the County must amend its comprehensive plan to the satisfaction of the Department, and the rules the Department will use to evaluate the amendments are some of the ones being challenged by the County. If the amendments were deemed by the Department as not "in compliance," the case would go to a DOAH hearing, and the statutory provisions being challenged

would supply the sanctions applied to the County for noncompliance. Further, the settlement agreement referenced in the Summary Judgment did not settle all disputes between the parties.

The County filed a Motion for Rehearing on the trial court order granting summary judgment, and included as a Supplement to that motion copies of six petitions filed in the administrative comprehensive plan case by persons who had achieved party status and who objected to the plan as originally enacted. [R. 533-64] None of those third parties had reached any settlement with the County or DCA, and each of them could still have forced that case through final hearing on the original plan. Thus, regardless of the settlement stature of the County and Department, other parties existed in that case who had not settled.

Following the County's Motion for Rehearing, the trial court essentially repeated its ruling in the Summary Judgment, but added:

In its Motion for Rehearing, Santa Rosa County alleges that it still needs a declaration because it will have future problems in complying with Chapter 163 and Rule 9J-5. This Court lacks jurisdiction to entertain hypothetical disputes which may or may not occur in the future nor does this Court have jurisdiction to give advisory opinions.

[R. 569] No mention was made of the outstanding petitions, or of any case that was cited by the County in support of the argument in its Motion for Rehearing that the circuit court has jurisdiction.

The only fact which existed in the record is that a Settlement Agreement dated June 24, 1992, exists, but the factual implications of the document are hotly contested. The basis for the Summary

Judgment was the "fact" that all disputes in the <u>administrative</u> case are resolved by the settlement, and nowhere has that fact been proven. Indeed, indications **from the Department** were that the settlement is but another step in the ongoing and continuous process of adoption and amendment of the County's Comprehensive Plan.

In denying the County's Motion for Rehearing on Summary Judgment, the trial judge touched on but did not expressly rule on the issue of standing. The trial judge stated that:

There was a close question as to whether Santa Rosa County, as a political subdivision, had standing to offensively challenge the constitutionality of certain statutes and rules, <u>Department of Education v. Gerald Lewis</u>, 416 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1982). The Court concluded that Santa Rosa County's tenuous standing was predicated on its present and ongoing dispute with DCA, in which the administrative proceeding was then pending before [DOAH Hearing Officer] Don Davis.

[R. 568-569] The court order concluded by stating that there was "no longer an actual controversy . . . nor . . . a bona fide, present need for the declaration" [R. 569]; in other words, deciding that the case was moot.

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court on the mootness issue, finding that the law being challenged will have a recurring effect because of the ongoing nature of the planning process and the County's continuing obligations under the planning statutes and rules. The appellate court also recognized the "wide public interest" evoked by the

County's suit because of the applicability of the challenged statutes and rules to every county in Florida. Santa Rosa County v. Administration Commission, 19 F.L.W. at D1966-1967.

The District Court held, however, that the County lacked standing to challenge the statutes and rules, applying a rule that legislation affecting the duties of state officers and agencies is presumed valid, and that such parties do not have standing to assert otherwise. 19 F.L.W. at D1967. The District Court agreed with the County that compliance with the challenged act would "increase[] the cost of governance," and acknowledged the County's argument that the challenged provisions presented the potential for the loss of legislative appropriations to the County. Id. Nevertheless, the appellate court held that these actual and potential fiscal impacts did not bring the County within the recognized exception to the above stated general rule: the exception being that public officers and agencies charged with managing public funds can challenge statutes affecting such funds.

The District Court did certify the following question to this Court as a question of great public importance:

DOES A COUNTY HAVE STANDING TO CHALLENGE BY A DECLARATORY ACTION THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF A STATUTE OR RULE WHICH INDIRECTLY REQUIRES THE COUNTY TO EXPEND PUBLIC FUNDS IN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH THE MANDATES OF SUCH STATUTE OR RULE, AND FURTHER PROVIDES FOR A POTENTIAL LOSS OF REVENUE TO THE COUNTY IN THE EVENT OF NONCOMPLIANCE?

Id. The County timely filed its Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court on October 14, 1994. The Notice raised

as bases for jurisdiction both the certified question and a conflict between the First District's ruling and a decision of another District Court of Appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. In its timely filed jurisdictional brief, limited solely to the conflict basis of jurisdiction, the County explained the conflict between the District Court's ruling and this Court's opinion in <u>City of Pensacola v. King</u>, 47 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 1950).

Pursuant to the briefing schedule established by this Court's order of October 21, 1994, the County hereby submits its initial brief on the merits.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

County governments in Florida have the power and duty to plan for and regulate growth and land use within the county. The power to plan has both a constitutional and a statutory basis, and it involves the exercise of discretion and judgment by the County's legislative body, its board of county commissioners. Santa Rosa County has standing to challenge the constitutionality of statutes and rules which constrain the County's exercise of its planning discretion and judgment.

The general rule that public officers and bodies lack standing to challenge statutes affecting their duties is based on the ministerial, administrative nature of such officers' duties. this reason that general rule is not applicable to counties seeking to challenge statutes affecting the legislative comprehensive plan adoption and amendment. Unlike executive officers and agencies, who should carry out without question the duties created for them by legislatures, the County as a planning agency is fulfilling a legislative task. The County should be allowed to challenge planning statutes and rules in order to protect the exercise of legislative discretion by a answerable to the citizens affected by such legislative action.

Even if the general rule prohibiting challenges to statutes and rules were deemed applicable to counties exercising legislative functions, an exception to this rule exists where the public body is charged with the control and disbursement of public funds. This exception applies to the County in the planning arena in two distinct ways.

First, preparing, adopting and amending a comprehensive plan requires the expenditure of County funds. The County is required to hold hearings, gather and analyze data, perform surveys and studies, prepare maps, and print and distribute copies of the plan and plan amendments. All of these actions cost money, and the County must incur these costs in engaging in planning. Incurring such costs has been deemed sufficient by this Court and other Florida courts to create an exception to the general rule and allow constitutional challenges to statutes, even where it was only possible and not certain that such costs would have to be incurred.

Second, the statutes which Santa Rosa County sought to challenge can result in loss of significant funding sources to the County, in the event its plan is deemed not in compliance with planning statutes, rules, and a regional policy plan. These funding sources include tax revenue sharing, state money for infrastructure development and improvement, and various grant moneys. By allowing an executive branch agency (the Administration Commission) to withhold state funding, and thus reorder legislative funding priorities, the statutes in question violate the separation of powers doctrine of the Florida Constitution. Even if the County could not normally affirmatively challenge the constitutionality of these statutes, it is entitled to raise such issues defensively when the County's compliance with the statute is placed at issue; that is exactly what the County attempted to do here, in the only

forum (circuit court) in which such issues could be decided. The County has a right to protect and preserve public funds available to it which the subject statutes and rules place in peril.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. SANTA ROSA COUNTY IS ENTITLED TO CHALLENGE PORTIONS OF CHAPTER 163, FLORIDA STATUTES, AND RULE 9J-5, FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE, BECAUSE OF THE CONSTRAINTS THEY IMPOSE ON THE COUNTY PLANNING PROCESS.

Section 125.01(1)(g), Fla. Stat., authorizes the legislative and governing body of a county to "prepare and enforce comprehensive plans for the development of the county." This planning function along with others, is granted "to the extent not inconsistent with general or special law." Section 125.01(1), Fla. Stat. Part II of Chapter 163 gives to counties the "power and responsibility" to plan for their future development and growth, and, specifically, to "adopt and amend comprehensive plans . . . to guide their future development and growth . . . . " Section 163.3167(1), Fla. Stat.

The Florida Constitution grants to non-charter counties such as Santa Rosa County "such power of self-government as is provided by general or special law." Art. VIII, § 1(f), Fla. Const. A non-charter county's board of county commissioners may enact "county ordinances not inconsistent with general or special law." Id.

In recognition of a county's right to plan, the Florida Legislature expressed its intent in adopting Chapter 163:

It is the intent of the Legislature that the repeal of [prior comprehensive planning statutes] shall not be interpreted to limit or restrict the powers of municipal or county officials, but shall be interpreted as a recognition of their broad statutory and constitutional powers to plan for and regulate

the use of land. It is, further, the intent of the Legislature to reconfirm that [the provisions of the Act] have provided and do provide the necessary statutory directions and basis for municipal and county officials to carry out their comprehensive planning and land development regulation powers, duties, and responsibilities.

Section 163.3161(8), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). Section 163.3191, Fla. Stat., titled "Evaluation and appraisal of comprehensive plan," at subsection (1) states:

The planning program shall be a continuous and ongoing process. The local planning agency shall prepare periodic reports on the comprehensive plan, which shall be sent to the governing body and to the state land planning agency at least once every five years after the adoption of the comprehensive plan. . . . It is the intent of this act that adopted comprehensive plans be periodically updated through the evaluation and appraisal report.

(Emphasis added.) Section 163.3194, Fla. Stat., contains provisions on the legal status of a comprehensive plan. After a plan is adopted in conformity with Chapter 163, "all development undertaken by, and all actions taken in regard to development orders by, governmental agencies in regard to land covered by such plan or element shall be consistent with such plan or element as adopted." Section 163.3194(1)(a), Fla. Stat.

From now until the laws are repealed or amended, Santa Rosa County and her residents will have to comply with Chapter 163 and Rule 9J-5 in implementing the County's comp plan, and in all plan amendment proceedings. The rules and statutes challenged by Santa Rosa County in this case go far beyond requiring the adoption of a plan, mandating inclusion of certain elements, and establishing

procedures for the adoption and amendment of plans. The challenged statutes and rules constrain the County's exercise of discretion in making its substantive planning decisions by requiring that certain policies be implemented, regardless of whether the County and its residents agree with them.

For example, Rule 9J-5.006(3)(b)8 (formerly (3)(b)7) requires that the future land use element of local comp plans contain objectives and goals which "discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl." Santa Rosa County's plan, when reviewed by the Department, was found to be not in compliance with this rule.

Discouraging "urban sprawl," a term not defined in rule or statute, is also required by the Department in the comp plan element relating to sewer, waste, and water. Rule 9J-5.001(2)(b). Other substantive goals required in comp plans by Rule 9J-5 include encouraging redevelopment (Rule 9J-5.006(3)(b)2) and eliminating "inconsistent" land uses (Rule 9J-5.003(3)(b)3). Santa Rosa County sought to challenge these rules in its declaratory judgment action, both as exceeding the Department's statutory grant of rulemaking authority in violation of the separation of powers doctrine, and as violating Santa Rosa's constitutional home rule powers.

The County also sought to challenge the statute and rule requirements that comp plans be consistent with regional policy plans; see Section 163.3177(10)(a) and 163.3184(1)(b), Fla. Stat., and Rule 9J-5.021, Fla. Admin. Code. Regional policy plans are adopted by regional planning councils, consisting of representatives of counties and municipalities within the region,

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