# FILED

SID J. WHITE DEC 21 1994

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SANTA ROSA COUNTY,

By \_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 84,545

ADMINISTRATION COMMISSION, DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS, DON W. DAVIS, in his capacity as Hearing Officer for the Division of Administrative Hearings, and DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS, District Court of Appeal, 1st District - No. 93-659

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT

# DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS' ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION AND THE MERITS

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Department respectfully asks the Court to decline to accept jurisdiction of this case, because the question certified by the District Court is not one of great public importance, and because the decision of the District Court does not conflict with any prior decision of this Court or of any District Court of Appeal.

Santa Rosa County's challenge is barred by the general rule that public officials must presume legislation affecting their duties to be valid. Contrary to the County's argument, the scope of the general rule is not limited to laws which have little effect, or to laws which affect merely ministerial duties.

The County does not have standing to bring this challenge to the Growth Management Act, because the provisions challenged by the County do not require the County to expend public funds, and the provisions which do require the expenditure of public funds are not challenged by the Complaint filed before the Circuit Court. The County does not have standing to protect the revenue sources which can be affected by sanctions under the Growth Management Act, because the County does not collect or disburse those revenues.

The County's challenge was properly dismissed by the Circuit Court because there exists no underlying case or controversy and the issues presented are moot. Summary judgment was correctly granted because there are no material issues in dispute between the parties. The execution of the stipulated settlement

agreement between Santa Rosa County and the Department brought to a close the underlying administrative challenge regarding whether the County's comprehensive plan is "in compliance" as defined in Section 163.3184(1)(b), Fla. Stat. The settlement agreement clearly specifies the parties' intent to fully resolve all issues between themselves.

### ARGUMENT

I. THE SIGNIFICANT CONSTRAINTS IMPOSED ON THE COUNTY PLANNING PROCESS BY THE CHALLENGED PROVISIONS OF THE GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT<sup>1</sup> DO NOT GIVE THE COUNTY STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE ACT.

The County, in Argument I of the Initial Brief, correctly states that the challenged portions of the Growth Management Act impose significant constraints on comprehensive planning by the County. Regardless of the significance of the constraints imposed by the Act, the general rule in Florida is that "state officers and agencies must presume legislation affecting their duties to be valid, and do not have standing to initiate litigation for the purpose of determining otherwise." <u>Department of Education v. Lewis</u>, 416 So. 2d 455, 458 (Fla. 1982). See also, <u>Davis v. Gronemeyer</u>, 251 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1971). "Disagreement with a constitutional or statutory duty, or the means by which it is to be carried out, does not create a justiciable controversy...." <u>Department of Revenue v. Markham</u>, 396 So. 2d 1120, 1121 (Fla. 1981).

This Court stated in <u>Barr v. Watts</u>, 70 So. 2d 347, 351 (Fla. 1953), that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the interest of brevity, the Department will refer to Part II of chapter 163, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, and rule chapter 9J-5, <u>F.A.C.</u>, collectively as the "Growth Management Act" or the "Act." The provisions of rule 9J-5 that are relevant to this case have been approved by the Legislature, §163.3177(10), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1993), and should be treated as statutes. <u>Occidental Chemical Agricultural Products, Inc. v. Department of Environmental Regulation</u>, 501 So. 2d 674, 677 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); <u>State of Florida Department of Environmental Regulation v. C.P. Developers, Inc.</u>, 512 So. 2d 258, 261 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

The people of this state have the right to expect that each and every such state agency will promptly carry out and put into effect the will of the people as expressed in the legislative acts of their duly elected representatives. The state's business cannot come to a stand-still while the validity of any particular statute is contested by the very board or agency charged with the responsibility of administering it and to whom the people must look for such administration.

The general rule applies to county commissioners, <u>Graham v.</u> <u>Swift</u>, 480 So. 2d 124 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); to municipalities, <u>North Bay Village v. Isle of Dreams Broadcasting Corp.</u>, 46 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1950); and to county officials, <u>Miller v. Higgs</u>, 468 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), <u>rev. denied</u>, 479 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 1985).

The general rule would be of little use if it applied only to insignificant legislation. However, the rule does apply to important laws. The Florida Courts have applied the rule to legislation concerning standards for admission to the Bar, <u>Barr</u>, supra, 70 So. 2d 347; contraction of municipal boundaries, <u>North</u> <u>Bay Village</u>, supra, 46 So. 2d 496; and to the restriction of funding to schools based upon the expression of unpopular opinions, <u>Department of Educations v. Lewis</u>, supra, 416 So. 2d 455.

The general rule has also been applied to a challenge to an agency rule which imposed significant constraints on a county's exercise of planning discretion. In <u>Graham v. Swift</u>, supra, 480 So. 2d 124, a Monroe County Commissioner sought to challenge a rule of the Administration Commission which revised the Principles for Guiding Development for the Florida Keys Area of

Critical State Concern. Designation as an Area of Critical State Concern, "...provides for Administration Commission supervision and, where deemed necessary, supersession of local government regulation of development...." and "...affects regulation of all development in (the) area of critical state concern...." <u>Cross</u> <u>Key Waterways v. Askew</u>, 351 So. 2d 1062, 1064 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), aff'd, <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 1978). Despite the significant constraints imposed by the rule, the Third District Court of Appeal held that,

The validity of the law is to be assumed by the public official who is to carry it out. By the same token, that official does not have standing to sue for the purpose of determining that the law is not valid. <u>Graham v. Swift</u>, 480 So. 2d at 125.

The challenged portions of the Growth Management Act do, indeed, constrain the County's exercise of discretion in making substantive planning decisions. The significance of such constraints provides no justification for reversal of the District Court.

# II. THE LEGISLATIVE NATURE OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ADOPTION DOES NOT GIVE THE COUNTY STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT.

In Argument II of the Initial Brief, Santa Rosa County argues that the general rule barring challenges by public officials applies only to statutes and rules which affect ministerial or administrative duties. The County correctly states that comprehensive planning is a legislative function of local government. However, the County wrongly contends that the general rule does not extend to such statutes and rules.

As the County admits in its Initial Brief, the recent cases do not limit the general rule to laws which affect only ministerial duties. <u>Department of Revenue v. Markham</u>, 396 So. 2d 1120 (Fla. 1981); <u>Department of Education v. Lewis</u>, 416 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1982); <u>Miller v. Higgs</u>, 468 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); <u>Branca v. City of Miramar</u>, 634 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 1994).

The Administration Commission rule in <u>Graham v. Swift</u>, supra, 480 So. 2d 124, which revised the Principles for Guiding Development in the Florida Keys Area of Critical State Concern<sup>2</sup>, clearly affected legislative duties of the Monroe County Commission. The comprehensive plan and land development regulations adopted by the county commission must comply with the Principles for Guiding Development. §380.05(6), (8), (10) & (14) and §380.0552(9), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1993); <u>Askew v. Cross Key</u> <u>Waterways</u>, supra, 372 So. 2d at 915. The First District Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Subsequently revised again, and adopted by the legislature in §380.0552(7), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1993).

Appeal stated that the Act which created the Areas of Critical State Concern, "shift[ed] ultimate regulatory authority from the county courthouse and city hall to the Capitol." <u>Cross Key</u> <u>Waterways v. Askew</u>, supra, 351 So. 2d at 1065. Even though the challenged rule affected legislative duties, the Third District Court of Appeal held that

Because Commissioner Swift has not been prevented from performing his duties under the Florida Administrative Code and because those rules are to be presumed valid, declaratory judgment is inappropriate. <u>Graham V.</u> <u>Swift</u>, 480 So. 2d at 125.

The County suggests that <u>Graham v. Swift</u> is distinguishable from the instant case because designation as an Area of Critical State Concern is "an extraordinary measure," "Santa Rosa County's regulation of development is not inadequate," and "the removal of local planning discretion ... is not warranted here." Initial Brief, at 19. The County's attempt to distinguish <u>Graham v.</u> <u>Swift</u> from the case at hand is flawed for two reasons.

First, the County asks the Court to accept the premise that "the removal of local planning discretion ... is not warranted here." Initial Brief, at 19. To accept that premise, the Court must look beyond the issue of standing, and determine that the Legislature made a policy error by adopting the Growth Management Act. The County cannot support the premise because the wisdom of the Act is not before the Court. <u>Green v. City of Pensacola</u>, 108 So. 2d 897, 899 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959).

Second, the County's analysis implicitly admits that the challenged rule in <u>Graham v. Swift</u> clearly affected a legislative

function of county government. Otherwise, the County could not claim that designation as an Area of Critical State Concern is "an extraordinary measure." Thus, the County asks the Court to disregard <u>Graham v. Swift</u> precisely because the case speaks directly to the County's theory.

The general rule barring challenges to laws which affect the duties of public officials is based on the relationship of those public officials to the Legislature. It is axiomatic that administrative agencies and officials have no authority except that which is delegated by the Legislature. Counties are equally subject to the will of the Legislature.

The Legislature can create, abolish and change counties.<sup>3</sup> Art. VIII, \$1(a), <u>Fla. Const.</u> Charter counties "have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law...." Art. VIII, \$1(g), <u>Fla. Const.</u> Non-charter counties "have such power of self-government as is provided by general or special law." Art. VIII, \$1(f), <u>Fla. Const.</u> Counties of either sort may only enact ordinances which are "not inconsistent with general law...." Art. VIII, \$1(f), <u>Fla. Const.</u>; <u>Davis v. Gronemeyer</u>, supra, 251 So. 2d at 4.

Counties are political subdivisions of the state. <u>Broward</u> <u>County v. Bouldin</u>, 114 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959); <u>Dade County</u> <u>v. Florida Association of Workers for the Blind, Inc.</u>, 173 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965). "It has long been held that counties act

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Legislature changed the boundary of Santa Rosa County as recently as 1991. Ch. 91-370, §2, <u>Laws of Florida</u>; §7.55, <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat.</u> (1993).

as arms of the state." <u>Circuit Court of Twelfth Judicial Circuit</u> <u>v. Department of Natural Resources</u>, 339 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 1976). This Court, in a case which considered the Governor's authority to suspend the Mayor of Jacksonville, has stated that

Inasmuch as the Legislature has power to create, alter, and abolish both counties and municipalities, we believe it was well within the legislative power to enact Section 112.49, defining what a municipality is and what a county is, for suspension purposes. Advisory Opinion to the Governor Request of July 12, 1976, 336 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1976).

Concerning a similar constitutional provision which applied to municipalities, this Court stated that

...[T]his Court has consistently adopted the generally accepted proposition that municipal corporations have no inherent right of self-government beyond legislative control of the state in the absence of some specific constitutional provision granting it to them. \* \* \* \* ...[T]here [can] be no municipal corporation in the absence of legislative action. In other words, the Legislature creates a municipality. It has the authority to abolish it and certainly has the power to regulate and control its government by statutory amendment. <u>Cobo v. O'Bryant</u>, 116 So. 2d 233, 235 (Fla. 1959).

Counties cannot legislate in a manner inconsistent with general law. Art. VIII, §1(f)&(g), <u>Fla. Const.</u>; <u>Abenkay Realty</u> <u>Corp. v. Dade County</u>, 185 So. 2d 777, 780 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966); <u>Board of County Commissioners of Dade County v. Boswell</u>, 167 So. 2d 866, 867 (Fla. 1964); <u>General Electric Credit Corporation of</u> <u>Georgia v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 346 So. 2d 1049, 1054 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). See also <u>City of Miami Beach v. Frankel</u>, 363 So.2d 555, 558 (Fla. 1978), relating to municipalities. As the First District Court of Appeal stated in <u>Weaver v.</u> <u>Heidtman</u>, 245 So. 2d 295, 294 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971),

At the outset, we observe that this is not a contest between a private citizen and the sovereign but is a contest between the sovereign and its child. The respective counties of this State do not possess any indicia of sovereignty; they are creatures of the legislature, created under Art. VIII, Sec. 1, of the State Constitution, F.S.A., and accordingly are subject to the legislative prerogatives in the conduct of their affairs.

Santa Rosa County disagrees with the policy decisions made by the Legislature in the Growth Management Act. Initial Brief, at 24. As a child of the sovereign, the County has no standing to pursue that disagreement in Circuit Court. III. THE COUNTY'S CHALLENGE DOES NOT FIT THE EXCEPTION FROM THE GENERAL RULE FOR LAWS REQUIRING THE EXPENDITURE OF PUBLIC FUNDS.

Argument III of the County's Initial Brief is directed to the question certified to this Court by the First District Court of Appeal. This Court's Order Postponing Decision On Jurisdiction and Briefing Schedule indicated that the Court has not yet determined whether the District Court's opinion presents a question of great public importance.

The District Court answered the question by stating:

(T)he statutory and rule provisions in question do not specify any expenditures of public funds other than the ordinary cost of the County doing business, i.e., complying with the growth management laws of the state and preparing a comprehensive plan. While there are certain administrative costs associated with the preparation and approval of a local comprehensive plan, the Act does not mandate the gross expenditures of local government funds in the same manner as the cases on which the County relies. <u>Santa Rosa County V.</u> <u>Administration Commission</u>, 642 So. 2d 618, 623 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)

Judge Ervin concurred with the main holding of the majority, but dissented from the decision to certify the question to this

Court because:

The majority sets forth impressive authority which clearly establishes that the county has failed to show an exemption from the long-standing rule precluding it from bringing its challenge against the state. There is nothing remarkable or unique in the application of this rule to a county, an arm of the state, forbidding it to sue its head. <u>Santa Rosa County</u>, at 624.

For the reasons stated in Judge Ervin's dissent, the Department asks the Court to decline jurisdiction of this case. In the alternative, if the Court accepts jurisdiction, the Department asks the Court to affirm the District Court's opinion because the provisions of the Growth Management Act that are challenged by Santa Rosa County do not require an expenditure of public funds other than the ordinary cost of doing business.<sup>4</sup>

A. The provisions of the Growth Management Act which have been challenged by Santa Rosa County do not require the expenditure of County funds.

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